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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The home built by Thomas Benton Hoover in 1882 is a simple, two-story frame building, 
T-shaped in plan, with steeply-pitched gable roof. The house occupies a 66x168rfoot lot 
fronting First Street in the heart of the small Columbia River Basin Plateau community of 
Fossil, Wheeler County seat. The Wheeler County Courthouse lies two blocks to the south 
on Adams Street.

There appear to have been two early additions in the southeast corner of the house, 
filling in the area between the main north/south-running block and the easterly ell. The 
first of these was two stories in height and shed-roofed; the second was a hipped roofed 
single-story addition.

The house is clad with clapboards, and present roofing material is asphalt shingles. 
Two stove chimneys are the only features above the roof line. Febestration is regular. 
The elongated windows are fitted with double-hung sash with four lights over four. The 
transomed entrance is offset to one side on the north end of the main block. The opening 
above it, a door, is believed to have been intended by the builder to open onto a porch
deck, which was never provided.

or
The house was acquired by the present owners in 1974. It had been neglected,/poorly 

maintained for many years. Over the past three years, the owners have painted exterior 
and interior, repapered plaster walls, upgraded plumbing and surface-mounted electrical 
wiring, and repaired the picket fence. A "minimal" framework porch with deck was added 
to the entrance. A dilapidated screened back porch was removed and replaced, and an 
8x16 foot flagstone patio was laid.

Interior trim is simple and intact. Tongue-in-groove wainscoting in kitchen, dining 
room and living room has been repaired. Among the minor modifications made by the current 
owners were the lowering of the kitchen ceiling and the addition of two kitchen walls to 
conceal plumbing.

A dilapidated barn on the adjoining lot to the west was torn down. A detached work 
shed atop a brick cellar to the rear of the house collapsed. It was reconstructed with 
lumber salvaged from the barn. Poplars lining the property are historic plantings. The 
current owners cleared the yard of blackberry vines and planted flowers, shrubs, fruit 
and nut trees.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The simple, two-story clapboarded house built in Fossil by Thomas Benton Hoover 
in 1882 is significant as the last building extant which is associated with one of 
the community's first settlers, the man who served as first postmaster, first mayor, 
and who gave the town its name.

Thomas Benton Hoover (1839-1896) was born in Platt County, Missouri. He emigrated 
to Oregon via wagon train as a boy of five, accompanying his father, Jacob Hoover, and 
step-mother. The elder Hoovers settled a donation land claim of 640 acres on the 
Tualatin River, in the vicinity of Hillsboro, in Western Oregon. In 1864 young Hoover 
married Mary Jane Chambers, daughter of a neighboring settler. The latter, James 
Washington Chambers, traveled east of the Cascades to the unsettled interior of the 
Columbia Basin Plateau in 1869 for the purpose of scouting ranch land. Claims for four 
families, including his own and that of his daughter and son-in-law, Thomas B. Hoover, 
were established in the vicinity of a tributary of Thirtymile Creek in present-day 
Wheeler County which would become known as Hoover Creek. The families traveled part way 
to their new location by boat, coming up the Columbia River from Portland to The Dalles. 
From the latter cross-roads on the Columbia, the parties traveled overland with their 
wagons and livestock, encountering but two prior settlers in the remote region of the 
Columbia's tributary—the John Day River. With none but Indian trails to follow, the 
118-mile final leg of their journey took three weeks to negotiate.

Upon his arrival in 1870, Hoover improved his claim on Hoover Creek with a cabin 
of logs, whip-sawn beards and hand-hewn slabs of local sands^sne: This first dwelling 
place of Hoover's was enlarged and improved over the years until the family relocated 
on nearby Butte Creek. The cabin remained standing until 1948. In 1881 Hoover and 
Thomas Watson went into partnership and opened the settlement's first store. It is 
reported that Indians from the Warm Springs Reservation who camped in the neighborhood 
each spring while gathering camas roots and sheep's wool from barbed wire fences traded 
at the store. A building known as Hoover and Watson Hall was located on Lot 1 of the 
same tract upon which Hoover's two-story house, the subject of the nomination, was com­ 
pleted in 1882.

From the time he established himself in the John Day country, Hoover assumed natural!' 
various civic duties. He was named Justice of the Peace, and, having petitioned for a 
post office at the settlement, he was sworn in as postmaster by a neighboring Justice of 
the Peace in 1876. According to family tradition, which is in turn supported by an entry 
™ Oregon Geographic Names. Hoover himself named his station "Fossil" in 1876. Investi­ 
gating a sudden landslide on his ranch, Hoover discovered the fossil remains of prehis­ 
toric mammals. His find is said to have attracted the immediate interest of Thomas Condon 
Oregon's foremost pioneer geologist and paleontologist who had made the first important 
discoveries in the fossil beds of the John Day Valley during the years Condon was a

(continued)
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Congregational minister at The Dalles 1862-1870.

Thomas Benton Hoover also was a County Commissioner and director of public 
schools. He was named Fossil's first mayor following an election that took place 
at Hoover and Watson Hall in 1891. The first town council rented Hoover's hall 
for a meeting place at the rate of $1.50 per month. Hoover kep| his post as Mayor 
until 1895. A year later, his oldest son, William, was voted into the office. 
The first born of the Hoovers' seven children, Annie Jeriah, married W. W. Steiwer, 
another prominent citizen of Fossil whose descendents are equally influential in 
the county.

The subject property was continuously owned by Hoover's descendents until 
1974, at which time it was acquired by the current owners.

GPO 893 455



Form No. 10-30Oa 
(Rev. 10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR 
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

RECEIVED

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM

FOR NPSUSE ONLY
151978

DATE ENTERED

Hoover (Thomas Benton) House, Fossil, Wheeler County, Oregon

CONTINUATiON SHEET_______________ITEM NUMBER fr PAGE 1_____________________

McArthur, Lewis L., Oregon Geographic Names (Portland: Oregon Historical 
Society, 1974),~290lEntry pert, to Fossil.

Interviews with Patricia Frank, granddaughter of Thomas Benton Hoover, and
tester Reinhart, brother-in-law of Thomas Benton Hoover's son, Tom Hoover, Jr,
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